
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/BUR/SR.45 

 
 

45th meeting of the General Committee 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume XI (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First, Second and Third 

Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Eighth Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



GENERAL COMMITTEE

45th meeting
Monday, 9 April 1979, at 9.50 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE.

Message from the Secretary-General

1. Mr. ZULETA (Special Representative of the Secretary-
General) read out the following message from the Secretary-
General:

"As in past sessions of the Third United Nations Confer-
ence on the Law of the Sea, I have been following with the
greatest interest and attention the developments in this
eighth session and the process of your negotiations.

"I am gratified to see that you have agreed to the same
plan of work as the one adopted during your last session,
namely, to deal with the 'hard core' remaining issues in in-
formal groups, and that there seems to be general agree-
ment that this must be the final negotiating session.

"I wish to express my appreciation to the President of the
Conference as well as the Chairman of the Committees and
of the negotiating groups for their efforts to bring this Con-
ference to the point where a consensus on a universal treaty
for a new legal order for the seas may prove feasible.

"The international community has given this Conference
the great responsibility of adopting a legal regime to cover
the traditional uses of the sea, the rational management of
living and non-living resources, the preservation of the
marine environment, the new scientific frontier, and the ex-
ploration and exploitation of the sea-bed beyond the limits
of national jurisdiction as the common heritage of mankind.
It has been agreed that the problems of ocean space are
closely interrelated and need to be considered as a whole.

"On the outcome of this Conference depends whether all
these problems can be solved under the rule of law or
whether they will be left in a legal vacuum that can only in-
crease inequities and widen the gap between developing
and developed nations. But there is still more involved in
this Conference. You know how many vital principles and
interests are at stake. Should the Conference not succeed,
world public opinion will further question whether Gov-
ernments have the resolve to use fully the machinery of the
United Nations to achieve international understanding on
global issues.

"After seven sessions and a total of 54 weeks it is clear to
me that the process of negotiation must be concluded. This
Conference has reached a point where definitive positions
have to be taken and difficult decisions have to be made.
This point of view is shared by practically all the States rep-
resented in this Conference; some have even made public
their position to the effect that no efforts should be spared
to bring this Conference to a conclusion as soon as possible.

"If we do not act now and thus lose the moment to
complete the decision-making process leading to the adop-
tion of a comprehensive law of the sea convention, we risk
being overtaken by events that will make it more difficult, if
not impossible, to reach agreement at a later stage on a new
legal order for the oceans.

"I therefore strongly appeal to all participants in this
Conference to make every effort to conclude negotiations
on those outstanding issues on which consensus has still to
be reached. We have come to the moment of decision and
we cannot afford to fail."

2. The CHAIRMAN requested the Special Representative
of the Secretary-General to convey to the Secretary-General
the Conference's gratitude for his message. He was sure that
all participants in the Conference fully agreed with the
sentiments which had been expressed by the Secretary-
General.

Organization of work

3. The CHAIRMAN said that the representative of Hon-
duras, Chairman of the Group of 77, had requested to be in-
vited to participate in the Committee's meeting. If there was
no objection, he would take it that the Committee agreed to
that request.

It was so decided.
4. The CHAIRMAN said that, as President of the Confer-
ence, he had issued a note concerning the future organization
of work (A/CONF.62/BUR.11). Before the Committee
proceeded with its discussion of the item under consideration,
however, certain corrections must be made to that document.
In paragraph 5, the words "Modifications of the revision"
should read: "Modifications or revisions"; and in paragraph 8
the words "the President", should be inserted after the word
"consult" in the text relating to recommendation 8. In the
second line of paragraph 10, the word "composite" should be
inserted after the word "informal", and in paragraph 12 the
words "First Committee" should replace the words "Com-
mittee 1". It was essential to bear in mind that, in paragraphs
12, 13 and 14, the references to a "smaller group" and to a
"small working group" in every case signified the group of 21
to deal with First Committee issues.
5. It had been brought to his notice that the clause in para-
graph 14—namely, "If the results achieved in the negotiating
groups are to be preserved intact"—might be incorrectly in-
terpreted and might give rise to differences of opinion on the
question whether certain results represented a consensus that
had to be preserved intact. Nevertheless, he had decided that
paragraph 14 should remain unchanged and that the group of
21 should itself decide which results should be preserved in-
tact and which results should be further negotiated.
6. Paragraph 15 should end with the words "fifth week" in
the second line. The remaining two sub-paragraphs—in the
first of which the words "in Plenary" should be replaced by
the word "other"—should appear as a new paragraph 16, and
the remaining paragraphs should be renumbered accordingly.
The intention underlying the new paragraph 16 was that only
the issues outstanding at that stage of the proceedings would
be discussed. Indeed, he fervently hoped that all necessary
negotiations could be completed in committee, without any

39



40 Eighth Session—General Committee

need to set up a small group at plenary level, i.e., a group that
would also consist of 21 members but would have a different
membership from that of the group of 21 if that proved neces-
sary in the light of the issues to be examined. Nevertheless, it
was essential to be ready to confront the circumstances that
might arise. It should be noted that paragraphs 12,13 and 14 of
document A/CONF.62/BUR. 11 related exclusively to issues
before the First Committee, Negotiating Groups 1,2 and 3 and
the Group of Legal Experts; however, if the Second and Third
Committees also considered that more intensive negotiations
were required in a small group, they were at liberty to estab-
lish such a group, after due consultation with the President
and all the other groups on the question of representation of
the various interests relating to the issues dealt with in those
two Committees.
7. In the group of 21, it might not be possible for a member
to represent a particular interest in the matters that would
come up for discussion. Accordingly, he suggested the ap-
pointment of seven alternate members on each side—in other
words, seven alternates for the ten principal members repre-
senting the Group of 77 and seven alternates for the ten prin-
cipal members representing mainly the interests of the indus-
trialized countries. It should be clearly understood that not
more than 21 delegations would participate in the negotiations
on any one issue and, needless to say, no country would be
entitled to have both a principal and an alternate member. The
alternate members should therefore be appointed from delega-
tions other than those which constituted the principal mem-
bers of the group of 21. The physical arrangements would be
such that the leader of the negotiations would have direct ac-
cess to all the delegations, behind which the alternate mem-
bers would be sitting. In addition, the members would be able
to group themselves according to the interests they wished
jointly to support.
8. In relation to First Committee issues, the Chairman of the
First Committee would act as the principal co-ordinator, with
the Chairman of Negotiating Groups 1 and 2 as his fellow co-
ordinators. The presence of the Chairman of the Group of
Legal Experts would also be required, so as to explain points
that would arise with regard to matters referred to the Group
of Legal Experts.
9. He hoped that his proposals, which were merely an ex-
tension of decisions that had already been taken by the Con-
ference and were set out in document A/CONF.62/62,1 would
meet with the Committee's approval. If the Conference were
to attain the objective of preparing a revised informal compo-
site negotiating text before the end of the session, it was im-
perative that the negotiations he had referred to should be
completed by the end of the current week.
10. Mr. KAZEMI (Iran) said that the note by the President of
the Conference concerning the organization of work con-
firmed his delegation's opinion that the work of the Confer-
ence, particularly at the current session, was giving rise to
some apprehension as a result of the nature of the negotiating
text itself and of the atmosphere that prevailed during the dis-
cussions. Admittedly, the informal composite negotiating
text2 was far from satisfactory to all delegations, but none the
less it represented a very careful balance between views that
were often contradictory. Every effort should be made to
maintain that precarious balance and the Conference must at
all costs refrain from re-opening discussion of issues which
had already been solved in ways that were acceptable to most
of the parties concerned.
11. When changes came to be made in the informal compo-
site negotiating text, it was essential to avoid any radical alter-

1 See Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on
the Law of the Sea, vol. X (United Nations publication, Sales No.
E.79.V.4).

2Ibid., vol. VIII (United Nations publication, Sales .No.
E.78.V.4).

ation of the text and to bear in mind the possible consequences
of the revision on the balance that had been achieved. The
outstanding issues formed part of an over-all package which
could not be broken down into separate parts. Consideration
of those two factors would, in his opinion, have a favourable
impact on the negotiations now in progress.
12. Again, further negotiations could not be conducted
under an implicit threat of unilateral declarations. Exploitation
of the international area before the negotiations were even
concluded might well prove fatal to the work of the Confer-
ence. Such exploitation was plainly contrary to the principle
of the common heritage of mankind, particularly since the
right to exploit the resources of the sea-bed beyond the limits
of national jurisdiction was not expressly provided for in posi-
tive law as set forth in the 1958 Geneva conventions. The
moratorium decided upon by the General Assembly in 19693

must be observed by all States, since it constituted the sole
guarantee pending the conclusion of a universal treaty.
13. Substantial progress had been made in the past two
years, but it was desirable to speed up the work of the Confer-
ence in order to embark on the final stage of negotiations and
arrive at the conclusion of a convention. The new procedures
proposed by the President therefore merited close examina-
tion. His delegation's position in that regard was in keeping
with that adopted by the Group of 77 at the beginning of the
session. At the same time, his delegation was ready to con-
sider any other proposals that would be conducive to a
favourable atmosphere for further discussions and would
avoid too radical an alteration of the negotiating text in its
present form
14. Mr. GOERNER (German Democratic Republic) said
that the group of Eastern European States had considered the
proposals for the future organization of work at the current
session and had agreed that, if there were no objections from
other groups, a small negotiating group should be established
in order to represent the interests involved in the issues before
the First Committee. The group should consist of the repre-
sentatives of 21 States, the Chairmen of the negotiating groups
concerned and the Chairman of the Group of Legal Experts.
The mandate for the small negotiating group, as proposed in
paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of document A/CONF.62/BUR.11,
was acceptable, and it was understood that the results of the
group's work would be treated as ad referendum. No objec-
tions had been raised to the proposal that the working group
should conclude its work in time to enable the First Commit-
tee, and subsequently the plenary, to undertake a review of
the results before the end of the fifth week of the session.
15. On the other hand, the proposal in the new paragraph 16
to set up a further negotiating group to deal at plenary level
with all issues pertaining to all Committees had given rise to
serious doubts within the group of Eastern European States.
A number of questions remained unanswered. What indeed
were the issues to be dealt with by such a group? Were they
issues that fell within the purview of Negotiating Groups 4, 5,
6 and 7 or were they other unresolved issues, including
perhaps the preamble and the final clauses? Again, what
would be the composition of such a group? If all issues relating
to all the Committees were to be considered, it would be dif-
ficult to ensure that all the interests involved would be repre-
sented and, at the same time, to have a membership that was
sufficiently limited for speedy and intensive negotiations. In
addition, who would chair the group in question, what would
be its relationship to the negotiating groups established during
the seventh session and to the group of 21 dealing with First
Committee issues, and what time-table would it have?
16. The group of Eastern European States had therefore
reached the conclusion that it was not appropriate at the pres-
ent juncture to provide for the establishment of a second

'Resolution 2574D (XXIV).



45th meeting—9 April 1979 41

negotiating group dealing at plenary level with all issues relat-
ing to all the Committees. The new paragraph 16 of document
A/CONF.62/BUR.11 should therefore be deleted. A decision
on the question whether or not to set up a negotiating group at
plenary level could be taken at a later date, if the need for such
a group arose. The group of Eastern European States took the
view that it would be appropriate to focus attention on the
work of the group of 21, without prejudice to that of other
negotiating groups, so that substantial progress could be made
in solving outstanding First Committee issues in the near fu-
ture.
17. The CHAIRMAN said that, in the light of his explana-
tion of the intention underlying the new paragraph 16 of his
note, it should be obvious that a decision on the establishment
of a small group dealing at plenary level with all issues relating
to all the Committees would have to be taken at a later stage.
The matter had been raised simply to indicate to delegations
what they might be required to consider at some time in the fu-
ture. For the reasons he had advanced earlier, it might well
prove advisable to constitute a small group of manageable
size; but it would be necessary to see, first, which issues had
not been resolved in the Committees and whether the plenary,
with its entire membership would be able to deal with them in
an efficient manner.
18. As to the comment that the results of the work of the
group of 21 would be treated as ad referendum, the First
Committee itself would have to decide whether the group's
findings would be considered in the Committee or whether
they would be referred direct to the plenary.
19. He had omitted to mention earlier that the informal ple-
nary meeting on the settlement of disputes would also have to
be convened at an appropriate time. The work of Negotiating
Groups 4 and 6 came within the purview of the Second Com-
mittee, the work of Negotiating Group 5 came within that of
the informal plenary meeting on the settlement of disputes,
and the work of Negotiating Group 7 came within the compe-
tence both of the Second Committee and of the informal ple-
nary meeting.
20. Mr. CARIAS (Honduras), speaking as Chairman of the
Group of 77, thanked members for giving him an opportunity
to address the Committee. The Group of 77 had unreservedly
supported the endeavours in the negotiating groups to arrive
at generally acceptable formulas which would lead to a satis-
factory text for the convention. In the past three weeks, ef-
forts had been made to reconcile differing positions and to
broaden the areas of agreement. It had not been an easy task
and, though some progress had been made, it had not been
possible to achieve major advances on topics that were vital to
the negotiations, more particularly on the sea-bed regime and
on the international machinery.
21. Consequently, the Group of 77 had deemed it advisable
to advocate the establishment of a negotiating group on inter-
related topics outstanding in connexion with First Committee
issues. As a result of wide-ranging consultations, it had been
possible for the Group of 77 to agree with the President's pro-
posals concerning the organization of work. Naturally, the
composition of the group of 21 should not be regarded as a
precedent and the establishment of the group was conceiv-
able only if all participants in the Conference were provided
with frequent and timely information on the group's delibera-
tions and the results of its work. In that connexion, he wished
to praise the efforts made by the Chairmen of Negotiating
Groups 1, 2 and 3, to thank them for the documents containing
negotiating formulas which they had recently circulated, and
also to express full support for the work that they were to co-
ordinate. In endorsing the arrangements for the future organi-
zation of work as proposed by the President of the Confer-
ence, the Group of 77 also wished to draw attention to its aim
of achieving a revised informal composite negotiating text in
the manner described in the statement it had made to the 110th

plenary meeting. The Group appreciated the explanations
given concerning new paragraph 16 of document A/
CONF.62/BUR.11, and it understood that the second
negotiating group would be set up only if circumstances so
required. The question of alternate members could be viewed
simply as an internal matter for the groups or parties con-
cerned.
22. Lastly, the Group of 77 was of the opinion that informal
meetings of the Third Committee could continue to be held on
the few topics pending in connexion with the preservation of
the marine environment, and that there could be further meet-
ings of the negotiating groups of the Second Committee which
still had matters outstanding, of the Group of Legal Experts
which still had to complete its work on the settlement of dis-
putes, and also of the Drafting Committee.
23. Mr. ARIAS SCHREIBER (Peru) agreed with the Pres-
ident of the Conference that the Conference must, at its cur-
rent session, produce a revised informal composite negotiating
text; he would even go so far as to say that it must produce a
formal revised text—in other words, an official draft conven-
tion— if the convention was to be signed in 1980. He would
not, however, press that point if the majority accepted the
proposals put forward by the President of the Conference in
document A/CONF.62/BUR.11. Except for the suggestions
relating to the second working group, the President's propo-
sals appeared inadequate. In the opinion of the Peruvian delega-
tion, the second working group should be established im-
mediately and should start negotiations on outstanding issues
to be settled by the plenary, including the preamble and the
final clauses, and also on outstanding Second and Third
Committee issues, including those examined in Negotiating
Groups 4, 5, 6 and 7. He made that proposal because it
seemed clear that the separate discussions hitherto held in the
Third Committee and in the negotiating groups on Second
Committee issues were unlikely to produce results. A small
group at the plenary level should therefore be established. The
time-table for that group should be the same as that for the
proposed group of 21, i.e. it should complete its work before
the end of the fifth week of the session. The second group
could consist of delegations which had submitted amendments
to the informal composite negotiating text at the seventh and
eighth sessions, and of delegations directly connected with the
interests involved. It was possible that the group would decide
that none of the proposals hitherto made commanded suffi-
cient support to be incorporated in the revised informal com-
posite negotiating text; but, unless the proposals were
analyzed and an attempt made to fit them into the text, no
results would be achieved.

24. The CHAIRMAN appealed to the representative of Peru
not to press his point. The Chairmen of the Second and Third
Committees should be given an opportunity to examine the
situation in their Committees and to co-ordinate the results
achieved by their negotiating groups. Furthermore, he had not
yet held any discussions with the Chairmen of the Committees
concerning the composition of the second working group.

25. Mr. AL-WITRI (Iraq) said that adoption of the Pres-
ident's proposal that a small working group should be set up to
deal with issues still outstanding would enable the Conference
to advance to a new stage of its work, in the course of which
an attempt would be made to solve problems specific to the
First Committee. A decision concerning the establishment of a
working group to deal with problems specific to the other
Committees should be deferred until a later date.
26. His delegation agreed with the suggestions made in doc-
ument A/CONF.62/BUR.11 concerning the proposed new
group of 21. It was very important that all delegations should
be kept informed of progress made in that group.

27. Referring to paragraph 6 of document
A/CONF.62/BUR.11, he suggested that the Chairmen of the



42 Eighth Session—General Committee

negotiating groups should also be members of the team to
work on the revised informal composite negotiating text.
28. The CHAIRMAN said he did not think that the Chair-
men of the negotiating groups could have the same status as
the Chairmen of the Committees.
29. Mr. KOZYREV .(Union of Soviet Socialist Republics)
said that, since the position of the Group of Eastern European
Countries had already been explained in detail by the repre-
sentative of the German Democratic Republic, he would limit
his statement to a few additional remarks. In the first place, he
wished to draw attention to the very constructive efforts of the
Chairmen of the negotiating groups on First Committee issues
and of the Chairman of the Group of Legal Experts. The prior-
ity given to Negotiating Groups 1, 2 and 3 during the first half
of the eighth session had made it possible to concentrate on
First Committee problems and to make further significant
progress.
30. In Negotiating Group 1, mutually acceptable texts had
been prepared on basic problems of a system of exploration
and exploitation of the resources of the sea-bed, including the
right of States and of the Authority to undertake such activ-
ities, and also on problems of the resource policy of the Au-
thority, the transfer of technology to the Authority and condi-
tions for concluding contracts and preventing monopolies by
fixing specific quotas for the allocation of areas for the exploi-
tation of deep sea resources.
31. In Negotiating Group 2, general principles had been de-
veloped for the financing of the Authority and for the financial
terms of contracts, and the figures proposed for financial
charges could serve as a basis for final agreement. On the
whole, the financial terms were designed to ensure the eco-
nomic viability of the development of the resources of the area
and to provide the necessary financial means to meet the
needs of the International Authority and the Enterprise.
32. Negotiating Group 3 had discussed and reached agree-
ment on a number of important provisions concerning the
structure of the International Authority and the functions and
powers of its main organs—the Assembly, the Council and the
functional commissions—and also provisions concerning the
status of the international Enterprise and the secretariat of the
Authority.
33. With regard to one of the political problems examined in
Negotiating Group 3—the question of the composition of the
Council of the International Authority and its decision-making
procedure—some principles on the basis of which a consensus
could be reached had been clearly defined. Those principles,
which had been included in the informal composite negotiating
text, were supported by many States. It had become clear dur-
ing the deliberations of Negotiating Group 3 that attempts to
revise those principles and to impose one-sided solutions of
the problem of the composition of the Council and its
decision-making procedures could only complicate the general
state of affairs at the Conference.

34. The Group of Legal Experts set up within the framework
of the First Committee was conducting negotiations on the
problem of the settlement of disputes concerning the interna-
tional area of the sea-bed. His delegation hoped that those ef-
forts would be successful.
35. In drawing attention to the successful results of the work
of Negotiating Groups 1, 2 and 3, his delegation was con-
vinced that on the basis of those results the First Committee
could reach a final settlement of the problems confronting it,
as the Third Committee had already done and as the Second
Committee had succeeded in doing with respect to most of the
problems on its agenda. On the other hand, since other delega-
tions and apparently the Group of 77 as a whole had spoken in
favour of the establishment of a small informal group, his
delegation would not oppose the creation of such a representa-
tive unofficial group within the framework of the First Com-

mittee, with a view to preparing mutually acceptable com-
promise solutions of outstanding issues, i.e. issues on which,
in the opinion of the Chairmen of the negotiating groups,
agreement had not yet been reached to a degree that would
justify the inclusion of new formulations in the revised infor-
mal composite negotiating text. His delegation further agreed
that the new group should be presided over by the Chairman
of the First Committee and believed that the Chairmen of
Negotiating Groups 1 and 2 should serve as Vice-Chairmen
and assist the Chairman in conducting negotiations and
preparing compromise texts on problems falling within the
competence of their Groups. Incidentally, his delegation
wished to point out that no group should be regarded as repre-
senting either the developing or the developed countries: the
Conference could not be divided into the South and North, as
was the Paris Conference, but consisted of many regional
groups. The Eastern European countries, in any case, had no
intention of setting themselves against the developing coun-
tries.
36. In agreeing to the establishment of the group of 21, his
delegation assumed that the group would not alter the com-
promise provisions already prepared, but would seek to settle
outstanding issues and to prepare mutually acceptable texts
on those issues with a view to their inclusion in the revised
negotiating text. If other delegations interpreted the task of the
new group in the same way, the results of negotiations be-
tween its future participants could be expected to be favour-
able.
37. Following subsequent approval of those results in the
First Committee and then in plenary, by means of consensus
or through the emergence of a measure of agreement that
would justify the inclusion of those results in the revised
negotiating text, there would be absolutely no need for the
General Committee or the Conference in plenary to establish
yet another small group at plenary level and to waste time on
procedural discussions. That remark applied equally to the
other Committees, in view of the references to them in para-
graph 11 of the President's note.
38. Even after the President's explanations, his delegation
still had some doubts concerning the new paragraph 17 of the
note, which suggested that unless the proposed procedure,
including that set out in the new paragraph 16, was adopted—
in other words, unless a new negotiating group was set up at
plenary level—, there was little likelihood that the Conference
would have a revised text and that it could attain its objec-
tives.
39. A revised negotiating text was not an end in itself for the
eighth session of the Conference. The task of the session was
to elaborate mutually acceptable decisions on the remaining
outstanding problems of the law of the sea, and the negotiating
groups set up at the seventh session were concerned with the
attainment of that objective. On the basis of such mutually ac-
ceptable decisions, it should not be difficult to prepare a
revised negotiating text on a collective basis, in accordance
with paragraph 6 of the President's note.
40. The members of the General Committee should express
their full confidence in those who would direct and participate
in the negotiations in the group to be set up to deal with First
Committee issues, instead of prophesying the failure of those
negotiations, as was done in the new paragraph 16 of the Pres-
ident's note. In that connexion, the same confidence should
be placed in the Chairmen and members of Negotiating
Groups 4,5,6 and 7, which had been set up at the seventh ses-
sion at the decision of the plenary meeting. It was hoped that
they, like Negotiating Groups 1,2 and 3, would complete their
negotiations successfully. Yet the new paragraph 16 in effect
implied that, however hard the members of the new group or
the existing groups might work and whatever efforts they
might deploy, they could achieve no success and the General
Committee should therefore, without awaiting the results of



45th meeting—9 April 1979 43

negotiations, provide for the establishment of a new body
called a small group dealing at plenary level with all issues re-
lating to all Committees.
41. Without prejudging its future position, and considering it
premature to express any opinion concerning the advisability
or inadvisability of setting up such a group, his delegation
could not agree that the question of its establishment should
be decided upon at the current meeting, since that question
could be examined at any time; it was to be hoped that the
President would not press the proposal contained in the new
paragraph 16 of his note.
42. The main difficulties of the current session lay not in the
organizational form of the conduct of negotiations, but in the
fact that the delegations of certain countries were still basing
themselves on false premises, assuming that by adopting new
methods of work or establishing new groups they would be
able to impose on the Conference one-sided solutions which
would not take into account the legitimate interests and rights
of other States. Those countries seemed to consider that the
time for final negotiations had not yet come and that they
could delay the adoption of compromise positions. His delega-
tion was reluctant to believe that the Conference was witness-
ing a display of tactics designed to hinder or undermine its
work; for its part, it intended to pursue the course of mutually
acceptable compromise in all negotiating groups, and it ap-
pealed to all other delegations to do the same.
43. The CHAIRMAN explained that the new paragraphs 16,
17 and 18 of document A/CONF.62/BUR.11 merely reflected
his own comments; the General Committee had not been re-
quested to approve those paragraphs.
44. Mr. LUKABU-K'HABOUJI (Zaire) agreed with the
Chairman of the Group of 77 that the figure of 21 suggested for
the membership of the smaller working groups should not be
regarded as a precedent.
45. In the opinion of his delegation, adoption of the sugges-
tions put forward in document A/CONF.62/BUR.11 would en-
able the Conference to make progress. He hoped that, by the
end of the session, the revised informal composite negotiating
text would have become the official text of the Conference.
46. Referring to the new paragraph 16 of document
A/CONF.62/BUR.11, he agreed that the President of the Con-
ference should be allowed sufficient time to consult the
Chairmen of the Committees concerning the composition of
the second working group; he considered, however, that it
would be useful to establish such a group.
47. He noted that document A/CONF.62/BUR.11 made no
reference to the question of dissemination, to the Conference
as a whole, of information concerning the work done in the
small group of 21. He suggested, in that connexion, that it might
be useful to publish records of the discussions of that group; in
those records, delegations should not be mentioned by name.
48. He would welcome further information on the exact
functions of the alternate members of the proposed group of
21.
49. In conclusion, with reference to paragraph 14 of docu-
ment A/CONF.62/BUR.11, he suggested that, in order to save
time, the decision concerning the issues to be discussed in the
group of 21 should be taken by the Chairman of the First
Committee, in co-ordination with the Chairmen of the
negotiating groups.
50. The CHAIRMAN said that it was certainly not his inten-
tion that the membership figure of 21 should be regarded as a
precedent.
51. The fact that the results of the working group would
be treated as ad referendum meant that they would be brought
to the attention of the Conference as a whole.
52. It was his understanding that an alternate would partici-
pate in the work of the small working group only if there were

questions on which he was better able than the principal
member to represent a given interest.
53. Mr. PERISIC (Yugoslavia) supported the statement by
the Chairman of the Group of 77. He also agreed with the
President of the Conference that a decision concerning the es-
tablishment of a second small working group to consider out-
standing issues other than First Committee issues need not be
taken immediately. It might be possible at a later stage to es-
tablish such a group to deal with Third Committee issues. The
Second Committee issues, however, were so diverse and in-
volved so many interests that it would be exceedingly difficult
to establish a small group in which all those interests could be
adequately represented.
54. With regard to the question of alternate representation in
the group of 21 which would deal with First Committee issues,
he proposed that the alternate representatives should be pres-
ent at all meetings of the group.
55. Referring to the question of final clauses, he stressed the
great importance of the issues involved and proposed that work
on the final clauses should be conducted in the informal ple-
nary meeting during the fourth and fifth weeks of the current
session of the Conference.
56. The CHAIRMAN said that it was for the various groups
to decide who would be their members and alternate members
in the proposed small group.
57. He had noted the comments of the representative of
Yugoslavia concerning the final clauses. He considered, how-
ever, that the Conference would have to have a clear idea of
the substance of the convention before it could deal with the
final clauses.
58. Mr. KRAL (Czechoslovakia) said he supported the Pres-
ident's suggestion that an attempt should be made to resolve
outstanding First Committee issues in a small group in which
all interests would be represented. He understood that the
creation of that group would in no way affect previous deci-
sions of the Conference, as contained in document
A/CONF.62/62, regarding the process of elaborating texts of
provisions for inclusion in the revised informal composite
negotiating text.
59. He hoped that the small group would not reopen ques-
tions that had already been settled and would strictly respect
all understandings and agreements reached to date. Its main
purpose should be to help the Chairmen of the negotiating
groups to assess the results of previous negotiations and fill
the gaps that remained.
60. As for the idea that, at a later stage, a small working
group should be established to deal with matters at the plenary
level, he agreed that it would be premature to discuss the mat-
ter at the current stage, all the more so as the decision to es-
tablish such a group might weaken the resolve to find accept-
able solutions in the existing negotiating groups and in the
Committees.
61. Furthermore, his delegation thought that it would be bet-
ter for the General Committee, with its well-balanced mem-
bership, to prepare decisions for the plenary rather than
engage in negotiations, undoubtedly time-consuming, on the
creation of a new body.
62. More generally, his delegation believed that the existing
machinery and organs should be used to the full and that the
Conference should not resort endlessly to the creation of new
organs every time difficulties were encountered.
63. In the circumstances, his delegation thought that the new
paragraph 16 of the President's note should be deleted.
64. Mr. ZEGERS (Chile) said that the Secretary-General in
his message to the Conference had rightly pointed out that the
current session was the last negotiating session, that the mo-
ment of decision had arrived and that the success or failure of
the Conference would depend on the decision reached.



44 Eighth Session—General Committee

65. The position of the group of Latin American States, with
which his delegation concurred, was that the final stage of in-
formal negotiations had arrived and that the Conference
should shortly have before it a revised informal negotiating
text for formalization.
66. In that context, the proposals contained in the Pres-
ident's note seemed generally acceptable. He understood that
the procedural provisions contained in documents
A/CONF.62/62 and A/CONF.62/694 remained unchanged. His
delegation supported in particular the suggested establishment
of a group of 21, as originally proposed by the Group of 77.
67. With regard to the suggested establishment of a second
limited group at plenary level, he said that the idea was an in-
teresting and important one which might be discussed after
Easter. As the Chairman had rightly pointed out, time had to
be allowed for the negotiating groups to meet and for the
Committees to examine their work. It should be possible for
that work to be completed during the current week and for
progress reports to be submitted in the following week; then
talk of package deals would begin. It would probably be nec-
essary to establish some over-all negotiating machinery since,
at the current stage, all imaginable procedural devices should
be used to facilitate negotiations and to reach the moment of
decision.
68. Mr. AN ZHIYUAN (China) said that his delegation ba-
sically agreed with the suggestions of the President of the Con-
ference concerning the organization of work for the following
three weeks. The mid-point of the session had been reached
and, thanks to the joint efforts of the Chairmen of the Commit-
tees and negotiating groups and of the overwhelming majority
of delegations, the Conference was in general developing in a
positive direction. However, progress as a whole had been
slow and differences of opinion still existed on several ques-
tions.
69. For the purpose of facilitating the negotiations, the
Group of 77 had suggested that a small working group should
be established to undertake direct and more effective negotia-
tions on outstanding First Committee issues. His delegation,
which supported that proposal, was happy to find it incorpo-
rated in the President's note on the organization of work.
70. His delegation had consistently held the view that the
questions considered by the Conference involved the vital
interests of all countries, and that all delegations had the same
right to participate in the deliberations of the Conference at its
various stages. Consequently, it was necessary on the one
hand to abide by the principle of sovereign equality and demo-
cratic negotiations, and on the other hand to ensure that the
negotiations would be effective in practice. The number of
participants in the negotiations should be smaller, and the
questions to be negotiated should be more concentrated.
71. In paragraph 12 of his note, the President of the Confer-
ence had correctly pointed out that the views of the small
working group would not be conclusions but suggestions for
further consideration by the Conference. All delegations were
entitled to make any comments on the results of the small
working group's deliberations. At the same time, since most
delegations would not be able to participate directly in the
small working group to be established, an effective way
should be found to enable all delegations to be informed in
time of what had actually taken place in the small working
group, and to participate in the over-all negotiations. Among
the many possible ways, consideration might be given to the
addition of a certain number of observer seats in the meeting
room; to the circulation of periodic reports by the Chairman of
the small group; and to internal briefing and consultations
within each geographical group.

"SeeOfficial Records of the Third United Nations Conference on
the Law of the Sea, vol. X (United Nations publication, Sales No.
E.79.V.4).

72. Judging by the discussions of the first three weeks of the
session, his delegation believed that, provided all participants
showed the necessary goodwill, it would be possible to make
the expected progress, conclude informal negotiations and
prepare a revised negotiating text by the end of the session.
His own delegation was ready to make its contribution to
ensure the success of the small working group.
73. Mr. VOLGA (Turkey) said that his delegation had certain
difficulties with the new paragraph 16 of the President's note.

74. In the first place, it considered that the decision taken by
the Conference at its previous session, and referred to in para-
graph 5 of the note, to the effect that modifications of the in-
formal composite negotiating text were to emerge from the
negotiations themselves and were not to be introduced on the
initiative of any single person, should in principle be applied at
the current session also.
75. His delegation was able to agree to the establishment of a
small group of 21 to deal with First Committee issues, since
the issues in question were interrelated and were not of more
particular interest to any one delegation or group of delega-
tions. Morever, the Conference had hitherto devoted most of
its efforts at the current session to those issues and had
achieved some positive results. It was also relevant that the
Group of 77 supported the idea of establishing such a small
group.
76. The position regarding Second Committee issues was
completely different. That Committee dealt with many and
varied issues, in each of which the different delegations were
interested to varying extents. It would be difficult therefore to
establish a limited group able to represent the various interests
in question. There were also certain Second Committee is-
sues, in particular the regime of islands and semi-enclosed
seas, which had not yet been tackled by the Conference.
77. The fact that the results of such a small group would be
treated as ad referendum might appear to be a guarantee, but
in practice it was not. Experience showed that when a deci-
sion had been taken ad referendum, it was seldom possible to
have it changed subsequently.
78. For all those reasons, his delegation was opposed to the
establishment of a group to deal with Second Committee is-
sues. It proposed, therefore, that those issues should be dealt
with in accordance with the normal procedure, and that the
new paragraph 16 of the note should be deleted, so that later
misunderstandings could be avoided.
79. The CHAIRMAN said he regretted that he was unable to
delete the new paragraph 16. That paragraph expressed opin-
ions of his own and in no way bound the Conference.
80. Mr. MWANGAGUHUNGA (Uganda) said that his dele-
gation endorsed the statement by the spokesman for the
Group of 77 and the statement by the representative of the
Secretary-General concerning the position of the negotiations.
81. With respect to the creation of a group of 21, his delega-
tion was able to accept the proposal on the Chairman's assur-
ance that the establishment of that group would not constitute
a precedent.
82. He further welcomed the Chairman's assurance that the
question of alternates would be a matter for decision within
the regional groups.

83. Mr. MESLOUB (Algeria) said that the Conference had
reached an advanced stage when it was essential that every ef-
fort should be made to reach a consensus on some very com-
plex and important issues. It was in that context that his dele-
gation welcomed the President's note.

84. It had decided not to object to the establishment of the
proposed group of 21 to consider First Committee issues, on
the assurance that no precedent would be set for the Second
Committee.



45th meeting—9 April 1979 45

85. However, the proposal concerning alternates was hardly
adequate. It would be very difficult for delegations to .partici-
pate in consideration of the issues at the plenary level, if they
had not followed the work of the group of 21. He suggested,
therefore, that the group on First Committee issues should be
open-ended.
86. Mr. SYMONIDES (Poland) said that the President's
note constituted a useful guideline for the realization of the ob-
jectives of the Conference. The organization or work pro-
posed therein would, in his delegation's view, be conducive to
effective negotiations on the various outstanding issues.
87. He wondered, however, what would be the exact text of
the General Committee's decision concerning the proposals in
that note. In particular, he was unclear as to the relationship
between earlier documents on the organization of work, such
as A/CONF.62/62 and A/CONF.62/69, and the new sugges-
tions made by the President. The General Committee might
possibly have to propose to the plenary that its previous deci-
sions should be changed.
88. His delegation was also unclear as to the manner in
which the final stages of the work of the Second and Third
Committees would be organized. He wondered whether a
programme of work for the fifth week of the session had been
laid down for the Second Committee, since he understood that
the possibility of creating a small negotiating group on Second
Committee issues was not excluded. The best solution would
probably be for the question of working methods to be dealt
with in the Second Committee itself.
89. The CHAIRMAN said that the proposals contained in
his note in no way constituted a modification of the ar-
rangements decided upon by the Conference and contained in
documents A/CONF.62/62 and A/CONF.62/69. His note
merely suggested that those arrangements should be extended
to intensive negotiations within a smaller group.
90. With respect to the organization of the final stages of the
work, he proposed to hold a further meeting of the General
Committee the following week.
91. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Brazil) said that the Pres-
ident's note—and particularly the suggestion in paragraphs 12
to 15 for a group of 21 to deal with First Committee issues—
was most welcome, as was the President's interpretation of
the role of alternates. On the other hand, his delegation did not
consider that the proposal in the new paragraph 16 to set up a
small group of manageable size to negotiate other outstanding
issues was either feasible or useful; it therefore gladly ac-
cepted the President's explanation that that proposal was not
under discussion during the current meeting.
92. Mr. OSMAN (Egypt) said that his delegation associated
itself with the Secretary-General's views concerning the ur-
gent need to reach a decision at the present stage of the work
of the Conference and it therefore supported the suggestion to
set up the group of 21. It also noted with satisfaction that the
number of Member States comprising the group and its com-
position—10 members from the Group of 77 and 11 from other
countries—were not to be taken as a precedent for negotiating
groups either at the Conference on the Law of the Sea or in
other bodies, such as the United Nations Conference on Trade
and Development, the United Nations Industrial Develop-
ment Organization or the specialized agencies.
93. One important point was the flow of information from
the group of 21. In his delegation's opinion, in addition to in-
formation on the final results of the group's work which were
to be treated as ad referendum, there should be a constant
flow of information on the course of the group's negotiations,
so that non-participating delegations did not feel excluded.
94. In conclusion, since the establishment of the group
would be a novel procedure, the relevant decision should
perhaps be submitted to the plenary meeting for approval, in
pursuance of paragraph 4 of document A/CONF.62/62.

95. The CHAIRMAN said that the proposed procedure was
not new, but represented a modification of existing procedure,
so that there was no need for the plenary meeting to endorse
the establishment of the group of 21.
96. Steps would certainly be taken to ensure that all delega-
tions were fully informed of the course of the negotiations in
the new group.
97. Mr. NAKAGAWA (Japan) said that his delegation fully
supported the suggestions by the President of the Conference,
since the establishment of a smaller negotiating group was
clearly the only way of solving the problems confronting
Negotiating Groups 1, 2 and 3.
98. Mr. BAILEY (Australia) said that his delegation too was
sure that the President's suggestions would advance negotia-
tions; and it had noted the clarifications concerning the new
paragraph 16. In the belief that the success of the new group's
work would depend largely on the physical arrangements for
negotiations, it hoped that the best possible accommodation
would be chosen for the group, so that the negotiators would
not be seated too far from each other and from the Chairman
and the advisors would have access to the negotiators without
taking the places of the alternates.
99. Mr. ZULETA (Special Representative of the
Secretary-General) said that the points mentioned by the Aus-
tralian representative would be taken into account in making
the necessary arrangements, which would, however, be sub-
ject to one technical constraint, namely that only a few con-
ference rooms in the Palais des Nations were equipped with
six interpretation channels.
100. Mr. MARSIT (Tunisia) said that his delegation fully
supported the President's suggestions, which were designed to
achieve the objectives of the Conference in the interests of all
the participants. On the other hand, the clarification concern-
ing the number of alternates seemed to be difficult to reconcile
with the geographical distribution of the new negotiating
group. Moreover, it should be made clear that the work of the
group of 21 could not be regarded as a final solution on which
general consensus had been reached until all the participants
in the Conference had been given an opportunity of stating
their views.
101. His delegation supported the Yugoslav representative's
remarks concerning the final clauses and hoped that all those
clauses could be considered and finalized during the current
part of the Conference's deliberations. In conclusion, he
hoped that the work of the negotiating groups would not be
hampered by the establishment of the new group.

102. The CHAIRMAN said that it was not for him or, in-
deed, for the General Committee to decide on the number of al-
ternates for each delegation. The secretariat would make every
effort to ensure that meetings of the group of 21 would not
interfere with those of the existing negotiating groups.

103. Mr. SHARMA (Nepal) said that his delegation wel-
comed the President's proposals, particularly since they in-
corporated the views of the Group of 77, but he wondered
whether the suggested procedure constituted a modification of
the procedure set out in documents A/CONF.62/62 and
A/CONF.62/69 and was as such subject to endorsement by
the plenary meeting. The replacement of open-ended
negotiating groups by one with a limited membership indeed
represented a considerable change which might require ap-
proval by the plenary meeting. Moreover, there seemed to be
some discrepancy between paragraph 12 of the President's
note, according to which the results of the new group's
work were to be treated as ad referendum, and paragraph 14,
according to which the group was to be given the task of revis-
ing the informal composite negotiating text.
104. The CHAIRMAN drew attention to his ruling that ap-
proval by the plenary Conference was not required, since the



46 Eighth Session—General Committee

procedure decided upon at the seventh session had not been 105. After observing that paragraphs 16 to 18 of his note did
revised, but had been modified to make it more effective. Nor not call for a decision, he suggested that the General Commit-
was there any conflict between paragraphs 12 and 14 of his tee should approve paragraphs 1 to 15 of that document,
note, since the function of the new group would not be to re- it was so decided.
vise the informal composite negotiating text, but to elicit pro-
posals for revision from all delegations. The meeting rose at 12.25 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


